## Case No. 63614

#### In the Supreme Court of Nevada

# SFR INVESTMENTS POOL 1, LLC, a Nevada limited liability company,

Appellant,

vs.

U.S. BANK, N.A., a national banking association as Trustee for the Certificate Holders of Wells Fargo Asset Securities Corporation, Mortgage Pass-Through Certificates, Series 2006-AR4,

Respondent.

Electronically Filed Jan 03 2014 09:04 a.m. Tracie K. Lindeman Clerk of Supreme Court

#### APPEAL

from the Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County The Honorable SUSAN SCANN, District Judge District Court Case No. A-13-678814-C

#### **APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF**

HOWARD C. KIM, ESQ. Nevada Bar No. 10386 Email: howard@hkimlaw.com

#### **INTRODUCTION**

This case concerns NRS 116.3116(2) and lien priority as between a homeowners association's super-priority lien for unpaid common assessments and a first security interest. Specifically, it raises the question of whether non-judicial foreclosure of an association's super-priority lien extinguishes the first security interest in the subject property when the lender fails to pay the limited amounts required to maintain its priority over the association lien.

Appellant SFR Investments Pool 1, LLC ("SFR") purchased a house in a Henderson common-interest community for \$14,000.00 at a homeowners association's foreclosure auction. The original owner had stopped paying association dues and defaulted on a \$331,500.00 note, purportedly owned by Respondent US Bank, N.A. ("Bank"). For almost two years neither the Bank nor the owner paid the community. Contrastingly, after buying the house, SFR paid assessments, made repairs, and keeps the property occupied. Subsequently, the Bank tried to foreclose, prompting SFR to sue the Bank for quiet title and injunctive relief. Citing NRS 116.3116(2) and defining "action to enforce the lien" as requiring a lawsuit, the court ruled for the Bank, denying SFR's requested preliminary injunction and ordering dismissal of claims against the Bank. In doing so, the district court erred because (i) NRS 116.3116(2)'s plain text and Nevada real property law principles establish that the Bank's junior interest in the property

was extinguished through the association's non-judicial foreclosure and (ii) even if NRS 116.3116(2) were ambiguous, authorities this Court relies on and public policy support extinguishment through non-judicial foreclosure. This Court should reverse dismissal and instruct the district court to enjoin the Bank's foreclosure.

#### JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

This is an appeal from orders (1) denying plaintiff SFR Investments Pool 1, LLC's motion for preliminary injunction ("PI Order") (5JA 791-794) and (2) granting defendant US Bank, N.A.'s NRCP 12(b)(5) motion to dismiss and motion to expunge *lis pendens* ("Dismissal Order") (5JA 802-804). Notices of entry occurred on June 11, 2013 and June 12, 2013 (5JA 795-801, 805-810). This Court's questions regarding jurisdiction were resolved pursuant to an Order entered on October 4, 2013, following resolution of SFR's Rule 59(e) motion. The order granting in part and denying in part, SFR's motion to alter or amend pursuant to NRCP 59(e) was entered on The order denying the injunction is independently appealable pursuant to NRAP 3A(b)(3) and the Dismissal Order is appealable pursuant to NRAP 3A(b)(1).

#### **ISSUES PRESENTED**

1. Whether a homeowners association's non-judicial foreclosure sale extinguishes a first security interest under NRS 116.3116(2), which expressly provides that a portion of the association's lien is "also prior to" a first security interest, the plain language of NRS 116, and numerous sources, including, but not limited to principles of real property law, the Nevada Real Estate Division, the Legislature's intent, the UCIOA, and public policy all support extinguishment of all junior liens, including the first security interest, through non-judicial foreclosure.

2. Whether SFR took title to the Property free and clear of the Bank's first deed of trust when it purchased the Property at the Association's non-judicial foreclosure auction held pursuant to NRS 116 and the resulting foreclosure deed stated that the Association complied with all requirements of law.

#### **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

SFR purchased a house through a homeowners association foreclosure sale and sued the Bank for quiet title, injunctive relief, and, in the alternative, unjust enrichment. The district court denied SFR's preliminary injunction motion and granted the Bank's motions to dismiss and to expunge *lis pendens*. The district court concluded that (1) a judicial foreclosure was required both to trigger and enforce the Association's super-priority lien; (2) that the foreclosure sale did not extinguish the Bank's first deed of trust; and (3) the foreclosure sale may have given the Association a "payment priority." This appeal followed.

#### FACTUAL AND PROCEDURAL BACKGROUND

## I. FACTUAL BACKGROUND

## A. <u>The Property: CC&Rs Recorded in 1997, First DOT Recorded in 2005</u>

The house at issue in this case (the "Property")<sup>1</sup> is part of the Copper Ridge Homeowners Association (the "Association") common-interest community. On December 30, 2005, Lucia Parks ("Parks") purchased the Property granting a deed of trust in favor of lender Wells Fargo Bank, N.A., in the amount of \$331,500.00 ("First DOT"). (1JA 095-124.<sup>2</sup>) The Association recorded its declaration of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>The Property is located at 2270 Nashville Avenue, Henderson, Nevada 89052; Parcel No. 178-19-712-012.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Joint Appendix ("JA"). Appellant has also provided an NRAP 28(f) Statutory Addendum ("AA").

CC&Rs before the First DOT was recorded, which perfected its assessment lien. (*See* 1JA 146.) Wells Fargo Bank acknowledged that the Property was located in a common-interest community, was subject to that that community's covenants, and specifically required Parks to pay dues and assessments imposed by such covenants. (1JA 119-121.)

#### B. <u>The Bank Accepts Assignment After Defaults on Loan</u>

Respondent U.S. Bank, N.A. ("Bank") purports to be the current beneficiary of the First DOT, by assignments recorded July 12, 2010 (1JA 130) and June 7, 2012 (1JA 148). According to a Notice of Default and Election to Sell recorded by the Wells Fargo Bank on February 24, 2010, Parks stopped paying principal and interest on the mortgage starting on November 1, 2009. (1JA 126 – 128.) This means that before the Bank accepted the first assignment of the First DOT on July 12, 2010, Parks was delinquent on mortgage payments. (1JA 098-99; 2JA 214.)

## C. <u>Parks Defaults on Her Assessments</u> and Association Foreclosure Process Begins

On July 19, 2012, the Association recorded a Notice of Default and Election to Sell under Homeowners Association Lien (Accommodation) stating that Parks was behind in association payments, owing \$1,912.50 as of July 16, 2012, and that the Property would be sold unless she paid the amounts owed. (1JA 150-151.)

On February 7, 2013 the Association recorded a Notice of Foreclosure Sale

2

which stated "you are in default under delinquent assessment lien" dated May 21, 2012 and provided notice that the Property would be sold at auction scheduled to take place on March 1, 2013 unless the outstanding amounts were paid. (1JA 153-154.)

## D. <u>The Bank Fails to Pay Super-Priority</u> Lien and SFR Makes the Winning Bid at Auction

After neither Parks nor the Bank paid the owed association fees, the Association sold the Property at auction held on March 1, 2013 to appellant SFR Investments Pool 1, LLC ("SFR") for \$14,000.00 (1JA 156-157.) The resulting foreclosure deed states that SFR was the highest bidder at the sale and that the sale "complied with all requirements of law. . . ." (1JA 156-157.) Unlike Parks and the Bank, SFR has maintained the Property. (*See, e.g.*, 1JA 003:¶7, 008:¶45.)

The relevant events and dates are set forth in the below timeline:

DATE	FACTS
1991	Nevada adopted UCIOA as NRS 116, including NRS 116.3116(2) (AA549)
July 1, 1997	Association perfected and gave notice of its lien by recording its Declaration of CC&Rs ( <i>See</i> 1JA 146)
December 30, 2005	First DOT executed by Lucia Parks in favor of Wells Fargo Bank, N.A. recorded on January 5, 2006 (1JA 099-124)
November 1, 2009	Parks defaulted on loan (1JA 126-128)

TABLE 1 – TIMELINE

	1
February 24, 2010	Notice of Default and Election to Sell under Deed of Trust recorded by Well Fargo Bank, NA. (1JA 126-128)
July 12, 2010	"Corporation Assignment of Deed of Trust" recorded transferring all interest in the First DOT Bank. (1JA 130)
July 12, 2010	Bank's agent recorded a Notice of Trustee's Sale stating the Property would be sold on August 3, 2010. (1JA 136-139)
May 24, 2012	Association's agent recorded Notice of Delinquent Assessment Lien (Accommodation) dated May 21, 2012. (1JA 146)
June 7, 2012	Assignment of Mortgage recorded transferring beneficial interest in the December 2005 Note and First DOT Bank. (1JA 148)
July 19, 2012	Association's Notice of Default and Election to Sell under Homeowners Association Lien (Accommodation) recorded (1JA 150-151)
February 7, 2013	Association's Notice of Foreclosure Sale recorded scheduling auction for March 1, 2013 (1JA 153-154)
March 1, 2013	Association foreclosure sale held. SFR as highest bidder purchased the Property for \$14,000.00 (1JA 156-157)
March 6, 2013	Association foreclosure deed vesting title in SFR recorded, including recitals that the sale "complied with all requirements of law" (1JA 156-157)
March 11, 2013	Bank's agent National Default Servicing Corporation recorded Notice of Trustee's Sale stating Property would be sold on April 1, 2013 (1JA 159-160)
March 22, 2013	SFR filed its complaint to quiet title (1JA 001-009)

#### PROCEDURAL BACKGROUND

#### A. SFR's Complaint and Motion for Preliminary Injunction

On March 22, 2013, after learning that the bank intended to sell the Property at a trustee's sale, SFR filed a complaint stating causes of action for Declaratory Relief/Quiet Title Pursuant to NRS 30.010 *et seq.* and NRS 116.3116 *et seq.*, Unjust Enrichment, and Preliminary and Permanent Injunction. (1JA 001–011.) SFR named the Bank and the Parks as defendants. SFR recorded a Notice of Lis Pendens on the Property on March 26, 2013. (1JA 012-013.) SFR filed an application for temporary restraining order ("TRO") and motion for preliminary injunction ("PI Motion"). (JA014-028.) The district court granted the TRO and set the hearing and briefing schedule for the PI Motion. (1JA 029-031.)

Following full briefing and hearing argument of counsel, the court denied the PI Motion without making findings of fact or conclusions of law. (5JA 791-795; 6JA 1024-1045.)

## B. <u>The Bank's Motions to Dismiss and Expunge Lis Pendens</u>

The Bank also filed an NRCP 12(b)(5) Motion to Dismiss with Prejudice the Plaintiff's Complaint (2JA 228-247) based on its interpretation of NRS 116.3116 *et seq.* arguing: (1) pursuant to NRS 116.3116(2)(b) the Bank's lien was superior to the Association's lien (2JA 232); (2) pursuant to 116.3116(2)(c) an association is entitled to 9 months worth of unpaid fees and assessments when the first

mortgage is foreclosed or when an association conducts a judicial foreclosures (2JA 234-234); and (3) the successful bidder at an association foreclosure sale "merely [holds] a temporary, possessory interest which [is] based on the eventual foreclosure by" the holder of a first deed of trust (2JA 245.) The Bank further argued that the NRS 116.3116(2) super-priority lien should be treated as a payment priority which survives a bank initialed foreclosure. (2JA 235.)

Regarding SFR's unjust enrichment claim, the Bank argued that it has not "retained the funds paid by the Plaintiff at the HOA sale nor does [the Bank] retain a benefit belonging to the Plaintiff in this case." (2JA 246.) Concluding "[a]ny additional money paid by [SFR] at the time of the HOA sale needs to be directed to the HOA who retained the funds paid by [SFR] and not towards [the Bank]." (2JA 246.)

The Bank also filed a Motion to Expunge Lis Pendens, arguing that SFR could not establish the elements required by NRS 14.015 (3). (2JA 248-254).

Parks joined in both of the Bank's motions prior to the hearings. (2JA 378-384.)

## C. SFR's Opposition to the Bank's Motions

SFR opposed the Motion to Dismiss. (4JA 507-526.) SFR argued the motion should be denied because the Association's non-judicial foreclosure of its lien for delinquent assessments pursuant to NRS 116.3116 *et seq.* extinguished the Bank's

First DOT due to the Bank's failure to pay the super-priority portion of the lien. (*See, generally*, 4JA 507-526.)

In the alternative, SFR argued that its unjust enrichment cause of action should not be dismissed as the complaint alleges that SFR expended funds and resources acquiring and maintaining the Property. (4JA 525.) Thus, should the district court rule that the association foreclosure was invalid, the Bank would be unjustly enriched by the funds SFR invested in the property. (4JA 525.)

SFR also opposed the Bank's motion to expunge lis pendens. (3JA 495-500.) SFR argued that it had a fair chance of success on the merits and that the injury SFR would suffer if the lis pendens were expunged would outweigh any potential hardship to the Bank. (3JA 495-500.)

## D. <u>The Bank's Reply in Support of its Motion to Dismiss</u>

The Bank's reply consists mainly of repeating the arguments made in its motion and claiming that SFR's interpretation of NRS 116.3116 *et seq.* set forth in its opposition is incorrect. (5JA JA658-756)

## E. <u>The Order Granting the Bank's Motions to Dismiss and Expunge</u>

The Bank's motions to dismiss and expunge were heard on June 4, 2013. (6JA 1046-1054.) After hearing argument, the district court granted both of the Bank's motions. (5JA 802-804). In the Order, the district court made the following findings:

(1) "NRS 116.3116 governs homeowners' association liens. It states in part that an assessment lien by a homeowners' association 'is prior to all other liens and encumbrances on a unit except . . . (b) A first security interest on the unit recorded before the date on which the assessment sought to be enforced became delinquent . . .' NRS 116.3116(2)(b)" (5JA 803,  $\P$  8);

(2) "the first security interest Deed of Trust was first in time and prior to the assessment lien of the homeowner's association." (5JA 803,  $\P$  9);

(3) NRS 116.3116 super-priority lien provisions were not applicable to the Association's lien because the Association did not conduct a judicial foreclosure (5JA 803,  $\P$  10); and

(4) the Association "may have a priority for payment of its lien, but the first security interest Deed was not extinguished by the foreclosure sale conducted by the [Association]" (5JA 803,  $\P$  11.)

The district court further found that SFR cannot quiet title or obtain declaratory relief extinguishing the Bank's deed of trust. (5JA 804, ¶12.) Finally, the district court ruled that SFR failed to state a claim for relief against the Bank and did not present a viable claim for unjust enrichment. (5JA 804, ¶14.)

Based on its findings, the district court dismissed SFR's complaint without leave to amend and granted the Bank's motion to expunge lis pendens. (5JA 804.) The district court also granted Parks' joinders and dismissed with prejudice the claims against her. (5JA 804.)

#### F. SFR's Rule 59(e) Motion

On June 26, 2013, SFR filed an NRCP 59(e) Motion to Alter or Amend Judgment based on (1) new evidence and persuasive authority not available at the time of briefing on the motion to dismiss; (2) improper dismissal of the complaint as to Parks; and (3) improper expungement of the *lis pendens* as it applies to Parks. (*See generally* 5JA 811-874.)

After hearing the argument on July 30, 2013, by order entered on September 25, 2013, the district court partially granted SFR's Rule 59 motion ordering that the dismissal against Parks be without prejudice. (6JA 1017-1018.)

This appeal followed.

#### **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

Construing the lien priorities created in NRS 116.3116 is an issue of first impression before this Court. The Court's ruling on this issue will have a far reaching impact on the vast majority of Nevada homeowners.

NRS 116.3116 through 116.31168 establish that appellant SFR purchased the Property free and clear of the Bank's security interest. The plain text of NRS 116.3116(2) grants associations a super-priority lien for a portion of delinquent assessments which has priority over a first secured interest. Next, the plain text of NRS 116.31162 through 116.31168 authorizes associations to non-judicially foreclose on a super-priority lien by auctioning the property.

Further, the principles of Nevada real property law are expressly incorporated into NRS 116 under the plain text of NRS 116.1108. Thus, the foreclosure of the super-priority lien which is a senior lien extinguishes all junior interests including a first secured interest. "Prior" means prior, nothing less.

Even if ambiguous, the above interpretation of the NRS 116 provisions related to non-judicial foreclosure of super-priority liens is supported by: (1) the legislative history of Chapter 116 (the Nevada Uniform Common Interest Ownership Act ("UCIOA")); (2) the Nevada Real Estate Division ("NRED"); and (3) the drafters of the UCIOA and the panel advising the drafters. Each of these contemplates that the lender would step in and pay the limited amount of the super-priority lien rather than have their interest in the property lost to an association's foreclosure sale.

Further, public policy and reason support the extinguishment of the first security interest by non-judicial foreclosure. Without the threat of extinguishment, first security interest holders have no incentive to pay even the limited amount comprising the super-priority lien for delinquent assessments. And without a cost effective, practical mean of non-judicial foreclosure, extinguishment of a first secured interest becomes an empty threat. Even Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac understand this concept and have developed policies to pay the super-priority liens. The concept is neither new nor unique. This Court should not rewrite the law simply because the Bank chose to sit on its rights and allow its collateral to be sold at auction.

Regarding unjust enrichment, SFR's complaint alleges facts sufficient to state a claim for that cause of action. As such, the district court erred in dismissing that cause of action.

The order granting the Bank's motions to dismiss and to expunge *lis pendens* must be reversed because the district court's interpretation of NRS 116.3116 violates the statute's plain meaning. There is no support for the conclusion that the NRS 116.3116(2) super-priority lien merely entitles an association to a payment priority. Such treatment would financially cripple associations.

Accordingly, this Court should reverse and instruct the district court to (a) vacate the order dismissing SFR's claims against the Bank and expunging SFR's lis pendens, (b) enjoin the Bank's foreclosure, and (c) conduct all further litigation arising out of NRS 116.3116 in light of the proper construction of the statute.

#### **ARGUMENT**

## I. Standard of Review

This Court reviews de novo an order granting a motion to dismiss for failure to state a claim, applying a rigorous standard, accepting the plaintiff's factual

allegations as true and drawing every intendment in favor of the non-moving party. Pack v. LaTourette, 128 Nev. \_\_\_, 277 P.3d 1246, 1248 (2012). Liberal pleading standards apply equally to declaratory relief and other civil claims. See Breliant v. Preferred Equities Corp., 109 Nev. 842, 846, 858 P.2d 1258, 1260-61 (1993). "[A] complaint should be dismissed only if it appears beyond a doubt that [the plaintiff] could prove no set of facts, which, if true, would entitle him to relief." Buzz Stew, LLC v. City of N. Las Vegas, 124 Nev. 224, 227-28, 181 P.3d 670, 672 (2008). This Court reviews district court orders denying a preliminary injunction and cancelling a lis pendens for abuse of discretion. Boulder Oaks Cmty. Ass'n v. B & J Andrews Enterprises, LLC, 125 Nev. 397, 403, 215 P.3d 27, 31 (2009) (preliminary injunction); Zhang v. Dist. Ct., 120 Nev. 1037, 1043, 103 P.3d 20, 24 (2004) (lis pendens), abrogated on other grounds by *Buzz Stew*, *LLC v*. City of N. Las Vegas, 124 Nev. 224, 228 n. 6, 181 P.3d 670, 672 n. 6 (2008). Finally, this Court reviews de novo a district court's statutory interpretation, even in the context of a preliminary injunction. D.R. Horton, Inc. v. Eighth Judicial Dist. Court, 123 Nev. 468, 476, 168 P.3d 731, 738 (2007); Boulder Oaks, 125 Nev. at 403, 215 P.3d at 31.

///

## II. <u>The Plain Language of NRS 116.3116</u> <u>Gives Association Liens Priority Over First Security Interests</u>

#### A. <u>This Court's Analysis Must Start with the Plain Language of the Statute</u>

Nevada rules of statutory construction govern the meaning of Nevada statutes. *See In re First T.D. & Inv., Inc.*, 253 F.3d 520, 527 (9th Cir. 2001). Under Nevada law, courts construe statutes to give effect to the legislature's intent. *Richardson Constr., Inc. v. Clark Cty. Sch. Dist.*, 123 Nev. 61, 156 P.3d 21, 23 (2007). If the statute's plain language is unambiguous, that language controls. *Id.* 

NRS Chapter 116, enacted in 1991, codified the Uniform Common-Interest Ownership Act ("UCIOA") and sets forth the statutory framework for commoninterest communities and their governing bodies. *See* NRS 116.001; A.B. 221, Summary of Legislation, 66th Leg. (Nev. 1991). (AA445.) This appeal requires examination of the plain language of NRS 116.

## B. <u>NRS 116.3116(4)3 Establishes that</u> an Association's Lien is "First in Time"

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