#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

Electronically Filed
Feb 19 2014 09:08 a.m.
SFR INVESTMENTS POOL I, LLC, a Nevada Limited Liability Companyin Seman
Clerk of Supreme Court

v.

U.S. BANK, N.A., a national banking association as Trustee for the Certificate Holders of U.S. Bank Asset Securities Corporation, Mortgage Pass-Through Certificates, Series 2006-AR4, U.S. Banks

CASE NO.: 63614

District Court Case No.: A-13-678814-C

Appeal from the Eighth Judicial District Court of the State of Nevada

In and For the County of Clark

#### U.S. BANK, N.A.'S ANSWERING BRIEF

Respectfully Submitted by:

WRIGHT, FINLAY & ZAK, LLP.

Chelsea A. Crowton, Esq.

Nevada State Bar No. 11547

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

This Court construes statutes "to give meaning to all of their parts and language," and will "read each sentence, phrase, and word to render it meaningful within the context of the purpose of the legislation." The statute's multiple legislative provisions are considered as a whole. In order to give meaning to each

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> See <u>Harris Assocs. v. Clark County Sch. Dist.</u>, 119 Nev. 638, 642, 81 P. 3d 532, 534 (2003).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> See Leven v. Frey, 123 Nev. 399, 405, 168 P.3d 712, 716 (2007).

part of the statutes, the Court must read the subsections together to mean that the super-priority rule affects the priority of payment, but does not effect an extinguishment of the first deed of trust. Taking SFR's theory to its logical conclusion, if the "super-priority" lien could extinguish a first deed of trust, then the Legislature would not have included NRS 116.3116(2)(b) because it would be rendered meaningless by the exercise of the "super-priority" lien. Because the Legislature included (2)(b), this Court must give significance to it. The point was made quite well by the court in <u>Bayview Loan Servicing</u>, <u>LLC v. Alessi & Koenig</u>, LLC et al., 2:13-cv-RCJ-NJK<sup>10</sup>:

The first mortgage rule (subsection (2)(b)) is an exception to the rule, for the super-priority rule (2)(c) is an exception to an exception. Since ... there can no [NRS 166.3116] subsection (1) lien that does not include some super-priority amounts because that amount includes every kind of assessment that could be delinquent... – the exception under subsection (2)(b) would be totally subsumed by the exception to the exception, rendering it meaningless....

SFR offered no substantive arguments why NRS 116.3116(2)(b) was necessary if the assessment lien could extinguish a first deed of trust. Therefore, the inclusion of NRS 116.3116(2)(b) must be read as a clear intention that a first deed of trust like U.S. Bank's is not extinguished by an HOA foreclosure sale.

Another "fundamental rule" when interpreting an ambiguous statute is that "the unreasonableness of the result produced by one among alternative possible interpretations of a statute is reason for rejecting that interpretation in favor of another that would produce a reasonable result. It Statutes in derogation of the common law must be strictly construed and exceptions to general statutory rules

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> See Respondent's Appendix at WF \*\*\*\*.

<sup>11</sup> See <u>Hughes Props. v. State</u>, 100 Nev. 295, 298, 680 P.2d 970, 971 (1984).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> Holliday v. McMullen, 104 Nev. 294, 296, 56 P.2d 1179, 1180 (1988).

should also be strictly construed.<sup>13</sup> When applying these principles to NRS 116.3116, the statute clearly confers a payment priority only.

When applying the strict construction and common law treatment of lien, U.S. Bank's Deed of Trust retains its priority over the HOA Lien after the HOA Sale. General real property law in Nevada focuses on race-notice: the prior in time recorded lien has priority over later "junior" liens – "first in time, first in right." Under common law, HOA liens did not afford any priority over previously recorded deeds of trust. <sup>14</sup> The Legislature created a statutory provision that directly conflicts with real property law; NRS 116.3116(2) departed from this common law norm by affording a *limited* priority to certain HOA liens over a prior recorded deed of trust. The priority extends only to nine months of assessments (upon a foreclosure of the prior recorded deed of trust), but the balance of the assessments, if any, remain junior to the prior recorded deed of trust. That subpriority portion would be extinguished upon foreclosure on the prior recorded deed of trust was satisfied.

Since the general rules regarding real property do not appear in NRS 116.3116 et seq., the Court *can* look at the legislative intent behind the divergent nature of the super-priority lien but must strictly construe the statutes as they are in derogation of the common law. The Legislative History shows the intent to establish a lien that creates solely a payment priority for the HOA. Neither the Legislative History nor NRS 116.3116 et seq. ever discussed extinguishment of a first deed of trust. Unless the statutes expressly provided the first priority deed of trust would be extinguished by a foreclosure of the *subsequently recorded* HOA lien, the common law must prevail; the first deed of trust remains in first position

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> Braunstein v. Nev., 118 Nev. 68, 81, 40 P.3d 413, 422 (2002).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> See Daniel Goldmintz, Note, <u>Lien Priorities: The Defects of Limiting the</u> "Super-Priority" for Common Interest Communities, 33 Cardozo L. Rev. 267, 270-271 (2011).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup> See Respondent's Appendix at WF \*\*\*\*.

and only the rights of *other* "interested persons" are affected by the foreclosure of the HOA lien.

The analysis by SFR is illogical because it maintains that the statute makes a first mortgage superior to an assessment lien yet allows an HOA's sale to eliminate that first deed of trust. Both cannot be true. SFR knowingly purchased the Property from an HOA sale that was governed by *all* of NRS 116.3116. SFR had knowledge of the eventual loss of title to the Property upon the foreclosure by U.S. Bank. A reasonably prudent purchaser at an HOA foreclosure sale would assume that any HOA foreclosure sale would be subject to a potential loss of the Property through a foreclosure by U.S. Bank – hence the purchase price of only \$14,000.00. SFR's interpretation of NRS 116.3116(2) is illogical because the purchase at an HOA sale for such a minimal amount cannot equitably eliminate a Deed of Trust securing a Note for \$331,500.00 executed years prior to the deficiency or the foreclosure sale.

2. SFR Is Not A Bona Fide Purchaser Because It Had Notice Of U.S. Bank's First Deed of Trust and Had Record Notice of the Mortgage Protection Clause in the CC&Rs.

SFR is not a bona fide purchaser if it purchased property with notice of another party's interest in the property. See <a href="Hewitt v. Glaser Land & Livestock Co.">Hewitt v. Glaser Land & Livestock Co.</a>, 97 Nev. 207, 208, 626 P.2d 268, 268-269 (1981). As a matter of law, SFR purchased the Property with knowledge of U.S. Bank's senior Deed of Trust. First, the recording statutes provide "constructive notice" of the existence of an outstanding interest in land, thereby putting a prospective purchaser on notice that he may not be getting all he expected. "Constructive notice is that which is imparted to a person upon strictly legal inference of matters which he necessarily ought to know, or which, by the exercise of ordinary diligence, he might know."

Allison Steel Mfg. Co. v. Bentonite, Inc., 86 Nev. 494, 497, 471 P.2d 666, 668 (1970) (quoting, 8 Thompson on Real Property, § 4293). Nevada's recording statute provides, "Every such conveyance or instrument of writing, acknowledged

or proved and certified, and recorded in the manner prescribed in this chapter or in NRS 105.010 to 105.080, inclusive, must from the time of filing the same with the Secretary of State or recorder for record...." SFR bought the Property after the CC&Rs and after the U.S. Bank's Deed of Trust were recorded. SFR therefore purchased the property with record notice of both the mortgage protection clause and U.S. Bank's senior Deed of Trust.

Second, Chapter 116 also deems SFR to have purchased the property subject to the CC&Rs. NRS 116.310312(7) provides, "A person who purchases or acquires a unit at a foreclosure sale pursuant to NRS 40.430 or a trustee's sale pursuant to NRS 107.080 is bound by the governing documents of the association...." A person who buys property at a foreclosure sale cannot pick and choose which parts of the CC&Rs are applicable to it. SFR is bound by the provisions of the CC&Rs, which include the mortgage protection clause.

Third, SFR is deemed to have knowledge of the CC&Rs and the mortgage protection clause under the common law. "The authorities are unanimous in holding that [the purchaser] has notice of whatever the search would disclose." Berger v. Fredericks, 95 Nev. 183, 189, 591 P.2d 246, 249 (1979). In addition to record notice, SFR was also on inquiry notice because the foreclosure documents themselves stated it the sale was being conducted pursuant to the CC&Rs. 16

Therefore, SFR only holds a possessory title interest in the Property, subject to an eventual sale by the first Deed of Trust.

### 3. The CC&Rs Attests To The Preservation Of U.S. Bank's Deed of Trust after the HOA Sale.

The Declaration of Covenants, Condition, Restrictions, Reservations, and Easements for Copper Ridge (the "CC&Rs") establishes that an HOA foreclosure sale does not extinguish a first deed of trust and that title to the property is sold

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup> 1 JA 153-154.

subject to the first deed of trust. The CC&Rs clearly state, at Section 9.13. Mortgage Protection:

Notwithstanding all other provision hereof, no lien created under this Article . . . shall defect or render invalid the rights of the Beneficiary under any Recorded First Deed of Trust encumbering a Lot or Condominiums, made in good faith and for value; provided (i) such Deed of Trust or Mortgage is Recorded prior to any notice of lien or notice of noncompliance Recorded pursuant to this Declaration. . . . <sup>17</sup>

Section 9.14 Priority of Lien, states, "The lien of any of the assessments, including default interest, costs, expenses and attorneys' fees as provided for herein, shall be subordinate to the lien of any First Mortgage." Sections 9.13 and 9.14 clearly establish that the HOA's intended the sale of the Property, pursuant to N.R.S. 116.3116, is subject to the First Mortgage secured against the Property, and clearly mean that an HOA Lien is subordinate to and does not extinguish U.S. Bank's Deed of Trust.<sup>20</sup>

SFR is bound by the CC&Rs for Copper Ridge, which govern the manner and method of the sale under which title was purchased by SFR. The CC&Rs clearly mean SFR acquired title to the Property, subject to U.S. Bank's Deed of Trust, <sup>21</sup> prevent extinguishment of that Deed of Trust and clearly anticipate and allow a "second" foreclosure by U.S. Bank. The CC&Rs also make the subsequent foreclosure by U.S. Bank is a valid sale.

## 4. The Legislative History Of NRS 116.3116 Precludes Extinguishment Of A First Deed Of Trust.

At that time NRS 116.3116 was adopted in 1991, the Uniform Common Interest Ownership Act (1982) (hereinafter "UCIOA" or "the Act") required that the HOA lien foreclosures be done in accordance with the traditional foreclosures

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup> See Respondent's Appendix at WF \*\*\*\*.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18</sup> Id.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>19</sup> <u>Id</u>.

 $<sup>^{20}</sup>$   $\overline{\mathrm{Id}}$ .

 $<sup>^{21}</sup>$   $\overline{\underline{Id}}$ .

in the state, and so did NRS 116.3116.<sup>22</sup> But the current version follows from the radical revision passed by the 1993 Legislature that removed the notice requirements and the ability to cure found in non-judicial foreclosures under NRS 107.080 and created the variant foreclosure scheme under NRS 116.31163, discussed in depth below. Unlike under UCIOA (1982) § 3-116(j)(4), in Nevada, the HOA can bring a judicial foreclosure action, it can assert its super-priority lien on a foreclosure under the first deed of trust, or it can non-judicially foreclose under the unique procedure in NRS 116.3116 et seq., particularly NRS 116.31163, whereby the buyer takes subject to the first deed of trust. Contrary to SFR's belief how the Act should work, no UCIOA state has concluded that a non-judicial **HOA** foreclosure sale can eliminate a senior deed of trust. Colorado, Connecticut, Delaware, Vermont, Alaska, and West Virginia, six of the other seven UCIOA jurisdictions, do not allow a non-judicial HOA foreclosure sale to eliminate a senior deed of trust, and only allow an HOA to foreclose its super priority lien judicially or "like a mortgage on real estate." When the lienholder is no longer required to get notice of the sale, and is no longer expressly permitted to cure the deficiency, SFR's reasoning fails.

The Legislature clearly intended to allow assessments to have a secured lien and be entitled to payment upon the foreclosure by the first deed of trust. SFR knowingly purchased a Property from an HOA Sale that was governed by NRS

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>22</sup> UCIOA (1982) provided at § 3-116(j)(4): "The association's lien may be foreclosed as provided in this subsection: ... (4) In the case of foreclosure under [insert reference to state power of sale statute], the association shall give reasonable notice of its action to all lien holders of the unit whose interest would be affected." (Emphasis added.)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>23</sup> See Colo. Rev. Stat. § 38-33.3-316 (11)(b); Conn. Gen. Stat. § 47-258 (j); Del. Code Ann. Tit. 25, § 81-316(j); Vt. Stat. Ann. Tit. 27A, § 3-116(j); Alaska Stat. § 34.08.470 (j); W. Va. Code § 36B-3-116 (f). Minnesota, the seventh state, does not give HOA assessment liens a super priority unless a senior lienholder forecloses. See Minn. Stat. § 515B.3-116.

116.3116. A reasonably prudent purchaser at such a sale would expect that any purchase would be subject to the first position Deed of Trust encumbering the Property. The purchase for the minimal price of only \$14,000.00 serves as an acknowledgment of that expectation.

NRS 116.3116(2)(c) was amended by Assembly Bill 204 in 2009.<sup>24</sup> In its original form, AB 204 extended the period of priority from six months to two years, but this period was reduced to nine months. Assemblyperson Ellen Spiegel testified about the legislature's purpose in extending the priority period on March 6, 2009<sup>25</sup>:

A.B. 204 extends the existing superpriority from six months to two years. ...In a nutshell, this bill makes it possible for common-interest communities to collect dues that are in arrears for up to two years at the time of foreclosure. This is necessary now because foreclosures are now taking up to two years. At the time the original law was written, they were taking about six months. So, as the time frames moved on, the need has moved up.

The "super-priority" treatment of the dues thus goes hand in hand with the foreclosure of the first deed of trust. Differing treatment of six or nine or 24 months of delinquent dues only makes sense if the first deed of trust remains in first position. *All* the delinquent dues would be protected if the first deed of trust could be displaced from its first position and extinguished. Extending the priority period to protect the HOAs would have been unnecessary if HOAs could simply foreclose on their super priority lien before a senior deed of trust beneficiary foreclosed and extinguish the deed of trust.<sup>26</sup>

In 2011, Nevada's legislature again considered amending NRS 116.3116(2)(c) with Senate Bill 174. Mr. Buckley testified regarding the 2009

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>24</sup> See 2009 Nev. Stat., Page 1207.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>25</sup> See Hearing on AB 204 Before Assemb. Comm. on the Judiciary, 75th Legislature, p. 34 (2009) (Statement of Assemblyperson Ellen Spiegel) attached to Respondent's Appendix at WF \*\*\*\*.

<sup>26</sup> Id.

amendment to NRS 116.3116(2)(c), and explained the meaning of a super priority lien:

Nevada Revised Statute 116.310312 addresses the fact homes were abandoned, foreclosed upon and falling into disrepair. This section allows the association to maintain an abandoned or foreclosed property. The costs expended by the association are a superpriority lien against the property. The Uniform Common Interest Ownership Act was adopted wherein, if a first mortgage holder forecloses on a common-interest community (CIC) unit, the association can be paid six months of the dues owed, which is called superpriority. This was expanded to nine months, except for condominiums.<sup>27</sup>

He again explained the meaning of an HOA "super priority lien" on May 17, 2011:

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